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U. S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION
s

'

In the Matter of )
)

Nebraska Public Power District ) Docket: 50-298
Cooper Nuclear Station License: DPR-46

- EA 82-46

'

ORDER IMPOSING CIVIL MONETARW PENALTIES.

I
E

Nebraska Public Power District (the " licensee") is the holder of Operating

License No. DPR-46 (the " license") issu'ed by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission

("NRC" or the " Commission"). The license authorizes operation of the Cooper

Nuclear Station. The facility is located at the licensee's site in Nemaha County,

Nebraska. The license was issued on January 8, 1974.
.
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'

During a telephone conversation in January 1987. between C. A. Hackney, NRC

Region IV, NPPD's Manager of Licensing, and a licensing engineer; in a '

February 8,1982 letter to NRC Region IV from NPPD's Division Manager of
'

Licensing and Quality Assurance; and during a March 9,1982 oral briefing to

NRC by various NPPD personnel, the licensee stated that the prompt notification

system for the Cooper Nuclear Station required by Appendix D to 10 CFR 50 to

be installed by February 1,1982 had been installed and was operational. An
'NRC special inspection and an NRC investigation conducted during the period of

;

March 11-30, 1982 determined that the prompt notification system was not

installed or operational. The NRC served the licensee with a written Notice
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of Violation and Notice of Proposed Imposition of Civil Penalties by letter

dated August 9, 1982. The Notice stated the nature of the violations, the

provisions of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission regulations which the licensee

had violated, and the amount of the civil penalty proposed. The licensee

responded to the Notice of Violation and Proposed Imposition of Civil Penalties
m*

by letter dated October 7,1982. '

,

III.

i

Upon consideration of Nebraska Public Power District's responses and the -

statements of fact, explanation, and argument in denial or mitigation contained

therein as set forth in the Appendix to this Order, the Director of the Office .

of Inspection and Enforcement has ~ determined that civil penalties should be

imposed. However, after consideration of the circumstances surrounding this.

event, the amount of the civil penalties has been reduced. The August 9, 1982

Notice of Violation and Proposed Imposition of Civil Penalties is hereby

amended to provide that in Item I only one material false statement was made.
.

This statement, that the prompt notification system was installed and operational,
4

was first made during the January 1982 telephone call and repeated in the
' '

February 8,1982 letter and the March 9,1982 briefing. A civil penalty of

$100,000 is imposed for that item. ' .

,
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In view of the foregoing and pursuant to Section 234 of the Atomic Energy Act
.

of 1954, as amended, 42 U.S.C. 2282, P1 96-295, and 10 CFR 2.205, IT IS HEREBY

ORDERED THAT:
*

.
,

-

The licensee pay civil penalties in the total amount of One Hundred

Twelve Thousand Dollars for Items A and B as described in the August 9,

1982 Notice of Violation and Proposed Imposition of Civil Penalties as

amended in Section III of this Order within 30 days of the dAte of this

Order, by check, draft, or money order payable to the Treasurer of the

United States and mailed to the Director of the Office.of Inspection and

Enforcement.

V

The licensee may within 30 days of the date of this Order request a hearing.

A request for a hearing shall be addressed to the Director, Office of Inspection

and Enforcement, USNRC, Washington, D. C. 20555.. A copy of the hearing request

shall be sent to the Excecutive Legal Director, USNRC, Washington, D.C. 20555.

If a hearing is requested, the Commission will issue an Order designating the

time and place of hearing. Should the licensee fail to request a hearing within

30 days of the date of this Order, the provisions of this Order shall be

effective without further proceedings and, if payment has not been made by that

time, the matter may be referred to the Attorney General for collection.

.
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VI

In the event the licensee requests a hearing as provided above, the issues to

be considered at such a hearing shall be: '

'
.

'

(a) whether the licensee was in violation of the Commission's'

requirements as set forth in the Notice of Violation and Proposed

Imposition of Civil Penalties as amended in Section III above, and

(b) whether on the basis of such violations the Order should be

sustained.

_ . . . . . -

FOR THE NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

.

Richard C. oung, ctor
Office of I pection and Enforcement

Dated at Bethesda, Maryland
this 18 day of February 1983
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APPENDIX
EVALUATION AND CONCLUSIONS

For each violation and associated civil penalty identified in the Notice of
Violation and Proposed Imposition of Civil Penalties (dated August 9,'1982)
the original violation is restated and the Office of Inspection and Enforcement's
evaluation and conclusion regarding the licensee's response (dated October 7,
1982) to each item is presented.

.

Item A

Statement of Violation .*
The Commission's regulations, specifically, 10 CFR 50.54(s)(2)(1) and Section
IV.D.3 of Appendix E to 10 CFR Part 50, require that each facility holding an-
operating license shall by February 1, 1982 demonstrate that administrative
and physical means have been established for alerting and providing prompt
instructions to the public within the plume exposure pathway emergency planning
Zone.

Contrary to the above, during an inspection conducted on March 11,.1982, the .

NRC detennined that the licensee had not demonstrated that administrative and-~

physical means had been established for alerting and providing prompt
instructions to the public within the plume exposure pathway emergency planning

Specifically, five of the mobile sirens identified by the licensee inzone.
its Emergency Plan as part of its prompt notification system had not been
removed from their shipping containers and a sixth mobile siren had a missing4

part. Further, during the investigation, statements from representatives of
the local volunteer fire fighting organizations who were to use the mobile
sirens indicate that they had not received indoctrination or training prior
to March 12, 1982 with respect to their role in the operation of the prompt
public notification system. As a result, the facility was operated with an
inoperable public notification system from February 1,1982 through March 12,
1982, inclusive, a period of 40 days.

For the first 12-days in March, 1982, each day of failure to meet the require-
ments for a prompt public notification system cor.stitutes a separate Severity
Level III violation. A daily civil penalty of $1,000 is being proposed for
each day for a cumulative civil penalty in the amount of $12,000 for these
violations.

Licensee's Response

The licensee asserts that it was not in violation of NRC's emergency planning
regulations. It claims that it interpreted the regulations differently than

| NRC but that the requirements for implementation of the regulations were
uncertain at the time and its interpretation was reasonable. The licensee
asserts that it viewed compliance with the regulations as complete when the
mobile sirens were delivered to the local fire departments because it believed
FEMA was responsible for assuring that offsite response systems were adequate
and that time would be provided to correct deficiencies following the FEMA review.
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Finally, the licensee asserts NRC staff should have indicated NPPD's actions
would not result in full compliance. Since they did not, and indeed, since the
staff made a statement to the Commission in August 1981 that NPPD was in
compliance, NPPD submits it had a reasonable basis for assuming that it was in
compliance.

NRC Evaluation _
,

; The licensee's arguments here are without merit. The regulations require the
; licensee, not FEMA, to install and test the prompt notification system by

February 1,1982. 10 CFR 50.54(q), and Appendix E, Section IV.D.3. Although
'

the staff may have concurred in August 1981 in NPPD's proposed appro,ach towards
' compliance with the regulations, the staff fully expected, and the licensee
should have been aware, that the system was to be-put in place and made opera-
tional. The staff construed the licensee's representations of June 30, 19814

to mean that the system would be completed by July 31, 1981, and on this basis
reported to the Commission that NPPD was in compliance. The system could not
have been completed if the mobile sirens were not installed. The licensee's
response suggests it was aware of its responsibility to ensure that the system<

functioned properly. The licensee states it conducted an independent test of
the decibel level of the mobile sirens and prepared route maps and coordinated
with local fire departments even after it distributed the sirens. Unfortunately,
the licensee did not follow through on these actions. It removed the item from
its corporate tracking system and, as a result, the job was not adequately
completed. The siren system was not made " operational" in that several sirens
were still in their cartons on February 1,1982.

Conclusions
,

'

The staff concludes that the licensee failed to comply with the emergency.

preparedness requirements and the violation stands.

Item B

Statement of Violation

During a telephone conversation in January 1982 between C. A. Hackney, NRC
Region IV, and NPPD's Manager of Licensing and a licensing engineer; in a
February 8,1982 letter to NRC Region IV from the NPPD's Division Manager of
Licensing and Quality Assurance; and during a March 9,1982 oral briefing to
NRC by various NPPD personnel, the licensee stated that- the prompt public
notification system for the Cooper Nuclear Station had been installed and was
operational.

Contrary to the above, when the statements referred to were made, the NPPD
prompt notification system was not installed and operational. Each of the
statements made by licensee representatives in January 1982, on February 8,
1982 and on March 9,1982 concerning the status of the prompt notification
system constituted a material false statement within the meaning of Section 186

: of the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended. The statements were false in
i

.

I
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that as of March 9,1982, the prompt notification system was neither installed
nor operational. The false statements were material in that had the NRC

. known of the true situation, action would have been taken by NRC to assure
'

compliance.

Each material false statement is a Severity Level II violation and is assessed'

a proposed civil penalty of $96,000. A cumulative civil penalty of $288,000
is proposed for the three material false statements.

Licensee Response
.*

; The licensee acknowledges the inaccuracy of the statements but asserts that
ilone of the statements is a material false statement because the statements
were not: 1) necessary to enable NRC to detennine whether a license should be
modified or revoked; 2) if made "in connection with" a power reactor license,
required to have been submitted under oath; or 3) in two out of three of the
statements, written and signed by the licensee. Furthermore, the licensee

' questions whether any of the statements was material because even if NRC had
known the actual status of the prompt notification system it would only have.

proposed a civil penalty for failure to comply. Finally, the licensee asserts

I.
that none of the statements was false because the licensee believed that as it
interpreted the NRC regulations, it had complied. In particular, with respect
to the telephone call, the licensee asserts the statement was not false because:
NPPD was simply attempting to say it was in compliance, the NRC characterized
compliance as being installed and operational, and so NPPD adopted those words.

! In addition, the licensee asserts (1) that the violations for the material false
" statements should not have been characterized as Severity Level II violations;

(2) that the action taken is inconsistent with other enforcement actions,
e.g. Pilgrim; (3) that the cause of the violation was not management inattention
to NRC requirements; (4) that NRC should not penalize public utilities; (5) that
the NRC enforcement policy should not be retroactively applied; and (6) that the

| action should be mitigated because of the licensee's corrective actions, good
; enforcement history and lack of prior notice of similar events.
i

NRC Evaluation

The staff believes that a material false statement within the meaning of
Section 186 of the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended, was made. Section 186
of the Atomic Energy Act provides that "a. Any license may be revoked for any
false statement in the application or any statement of fact required under
Section 182." In the VEPC0 decision, Virginia Electric and Power Com)any
(North Anna Power Station, Units 1 and 2), CLI-76-ZZ, 4 NRC 480 (1973),
affirmed, Virginia Electric and Power Company v. U. S. Nuclear Regulatory
Commission 571 F.2d 1289,1Z91 (4th Cir.1978), the Conunission has determined
that Section 186 is a full disclosure statute and is applicable to omissions )
as well as affirmative statements. Since an omission is by its very nature |

; unsigned and unsworn, statements need not be signed or sworn to constitute
material false statements.

|

,
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The staff disagrees.with the licensee's argument that the statements were not j
material . When the staff learned on March 11, 1982 that the prompt notification |

system was not installed, it immediately issued a Confirmatory Action Letter
calling for the licensee to take immediate action to put the system in place.
Had the staff been . informed on February 1,1982 that the system was not |
installed and operational, it would have required installation immediately |and compliance would have been achieved at that time. The licensee's response ;

could have been used to determine whether the license should be modified or i

revoked or whether other enforcement action would be appropriate. Contrary to |
'

NPPD's suggestion, it is not necessary for the NRC to indicate the full range
of potential actions. and consequences each time it communicates with a *1icensee, ;

and failure to do so does not foreclose it from exercising one of th6se options.
Therefore, the statements were clearly material. Finally, the licensee's asser-
tion that the statements were not false because the licensee had reason to believe
it was in compliance with the requirements must be. rejected because, for the
reasons set forth in the discussion of the violation involving noncompliance with
the requirements, the system was not installed and operational as required by the
regulations. Furthermore, under Commission case law, a statement need not be
intentionally false to constitute a material false statement. Finally, the
licensee's argument that " operational" did not mean " operational" but rather its
own interpretation of compliance is unacceptable. It ignores the plain meaning.

of operational. As NPPD notes, the NRC often relies on informal commimication
with licensees. The NRC will obviously assume a licensee intends the common

. _.
meaning of words. absent some qualification. To assume otherwise would be

' unworkable and make comunication impossible.

With regard to the licensee's other arguments: (1) the staff does not agree
that these material false statements should be evaluated as Severity Level III
violations. These violations fit the example of Supplement VII B.1. (2) Because
of the importance which the Comission attributed to the prompt notification
system requirements, the staff does not believe that the level of enforcement
action proposed in this case is inconsistent with other similar enforcement

|

actions. However, as discussed below, the staff has concluded that certain'

adjustments in the penalty for other reasons are appropriate. (3) As described
more fully in the evaluation of the licensee's response to Item A, NPPD manage-
ment was responsible for ensuring that the prompt notification system was
installed and operational by February 1,1982. Because management failed to

| give this matter adequate attention, the system was not installed and opera-
tional by that date. (4) Public utilities are held to the same standard of2

j protection of the public health and safety as private utilities and enforcement
actions for both types of utilities. must be consistent. (5) Under the Interim
Enforcement Policy and case law, the Comission had discretion to impose civil
penalties for material false statements. Further guidance regarding the exercise
of this discretion was provided in the new Enforcement Policy. The Comission
did not retroactively apply the enforcement policy. (6) The staff has recomended
a reduction in the civil penalty. The staff does not believe that any further
mitigation of the penalty would be appropriate.
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Conclusirn

The Commission originally proposed a penalty for three material false state-
ments; each of the three material false statements was categorized as a
Severity Level II violation under the Enforcement Policy,10 CFR Part 2,
Appendix C; and the base penalty for each was increased by fifty percent. In
light of the licensee's response and further study of the circumstances sur-
rounding the violation, the staff has concluded that a citation for one

material false statement is appropriate and that the maximum penalty of
$100,000 be imposed for this violation due to the serious breakdown in manage-
ment control. *=

,
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